
With you, we went further 
for myeloma patients

Annual Report 2021



“On 27 November 2020, I lost my husband of 
almost 20 years to myeloma. He was just 50 
years old. Jeremy and I had been together for 
30 years and he was (is) the love of my entire 
life. We have two daughters, Charlotte, 15, and 
Emily, 13, and Jeremy was the best daddy they 
could ever have wished for.

Our world was shattered, and our hearts broken 
forever. As we went into another lockdown, we 
hid away and grieved alone – now a family of 
three. And when the world started to turn again 
and the seasons changed, we were faced with 
a choice: do we continue to hide away, or do we 
move forward? We chose to move forward and 
channel our grief into doing some good. 

Fundraising for Myeloma UK helps our grief 
to some extent. We feel we are creating 
something positive out of something so 
negative. It may be too late for Jeremy, but it’s 
not too late for others. It’s my dream that one 
day a cure will be found for this horrific disease 
that ripped my family apart. In the meantime, I 
cannot sit back and do nothing.”

Since November 2020, Kerry Baggott has 
raised an amazing £58,000 for Myeloma UK. 
Driven forward by support like that, in 2021 we 
did everything in our power to ensure every 
myeloma patient has an empowered present 
and a hopeful future.

Thanks to the incredible support of people like Kerry, 
we go further for myeloma patients.
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We are  
one Myeloma UK community
 We are myeloma patients – around 24,000 people in the 

UK at any one time

 We are the carers, friends and families of people with 
myeloma and related conditions

 We are the 16 people who find out they have myeloma 
every day in the UK

 We are the 127 Myeloma UK Support Groups, sharing 
advice and experiences

 We are the inspirational fundraisers, completing incredible 
challenges – even during a pandemic – to support people 
with myeloma

 We are the researchers working every day to find better 
ways to treat myeloma

 We are the donors and supporters who make everything 
we do possible

 We are the 56 members of staff at Myeloma UK, whose 
work is always guided by people with myeloma

Together, we are Myeloma UK 
This is how we worked throughout 2021  

to make myeloma history…
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Welcome
Thanks to you, in a year of 
continuing uncertainty we 
have been more ambitious and 
effective than ever.
This review could have told of the story of a 
year when we decided to slow the pace of our 
work. It could have described how we opted 
only to maintain existing services, hoping the 
future would become clearer and easier to 
navigate. As the COVID-19 pandemic stretched 
into its second year, 2021 could have been  
a year of ‘wait and see’ for Myeloma UK. 

In reality, the COVID-19 pandemic has required 
us to do more for patients. As our community 
navigated the changing restrictions, you  
shared your experiences through surveys, 
support groups, and discussion forums. 
Because we could chart patient experience 
in real time, we made sure patients’ voices 
were heard through our evidence to multiple 
government inquiries related to COVID-19 to 
protect the clinically vulnerable.

We also took wide-ranging action to address 
our community’s biggest concerns. This 
included joining the Blood Cancer UK 
Vaccine Research Collaborative to build vital 
understanding of how blood cancer patients 
were responding to COVID-19 vaccines –  
work that directly influenced government 
decisions on vaccine programmes for people 
with blood cancer.

And we did this while never losing sight of the 
longer term challenges myeloma patients face. 
The work needed to improve treatment and 
care and ultimately find a cure for myeloma 
could not be put on hold. 

We went into 2021 with our new strategy in 
place, focusing on four key ambitions – to 
diagnose myeloma earlier, discover and share 
knowledge, transform the patient experience 
and influence positive change in care – which 
are as relevant and necessary as ever. You 
can read in these pages how they enabled 
us to work with renewed clarity and purpose 
throughout the year; be it our unprecedented 
investment in early diagnosis research,  
our commitment to the groundbreaking  

MUK nine/OPTIMUM clinical trial, or the launch 
of our Advocacy Partner Panel. 

We would like to say a particular thank to all 
our clinical and research colleagues for their 
ongoing commitment to myeloma patients and 
their families, as well as for their help in making 
sure this year was another year of progress. 
We would also like to say a special thank you 
to Laura Kerby, who stepped down as our CEO 
at the beginning of 2022. Laura made sure the 
unmet needs of myeloma patients were at the 
heart of our strategy, and we will continue to go 
further to address those needs – whatever the 
future holds.

None of the impact over the last year would 
have been possible without our incredible 
supporters, and we would like to thank the 
whole Myeloma UK family – patients, families, 
friends, healthcare professionals and the 
great team at Myeloma UK – for sharing our 
belief that we can and will find a cure for 
myeloma. Your generosity and commitment 
are the reason this review tells a story of new 
investment and new achievement, and of going 
further than ever before for myeloma patients. 

On behalf of the Trustees and the Executive 
Leadership Team, thank you all.

Jo Nove 
Acting CEO, Myeloma UK

Simon Linnett 
Chair, Myeloma UK 

   myeloma.org.uk | 5

https://www.myeloma.org.uk


What is myeloma?
Myeloma is an incurable blood cancer that begins in the bone marrow. 
It’s the third most common form of blood cancer but can be difficult to 
diagnose because myeloma symptoms are often mistaken for those of 
other diseases. For that reason, it’s often diagnosed late or when patients 
need emergency help. Around 24,000 people in the UK live with myeloma, 
and patients’ experiences of the disease vary greatly. 

Treatment aims to control myeloma, relieve people’s symptoms 
and improve their quality of life. It generally leads to periods when life 
is easier for patients, but symptoms will inevitably return and require 
further treatment.

Every year 
there are

5,800
new cases of

myeloma in the UK
– that’s 16 cases every day

At any one time 
there are around

24,000
people living 
with myeloma 
in the UK
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About Myeloma UK 

Myeloma UK works to deliver better outcomes for patients 
with this incurable blood cancer, helping them to live longer 
and with a better quality of life:

 •  We listen to patients and their families, provide information 
and emotional support, and connect patients to each other 
through support groups

  •  We partner with healthcare experts to identify and address 
barriers to diagnosis

  •  We invest in strategic research to drive innovation in 
treatments, increase survival times, improve quality of life, 
and find a cure for myeloma

 •   We evidence the needs, experiences and preferences of 
patients to inform and drive change

 •   We influence UK health policy and enable access to new 
treatments via the NHS

  •  We create resources and information for professionals 
involved in treating and caring for patients

 •  We raise awareness of the symptoms of myeloma with the 
general public through campaigns 

  •  We fundraise to invest in delivering the change myeloma 
patients need and deserve
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We receive no core government 
funding for the work we do, and we rely 
on voluntary donations and fundraising 

activities to make myeloma history.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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YOU’RE HELPING TO DIAGNOSE 
MYELOMA EARLIER 
Recognising myeloma early prolongs lives, but right now the 
statistics are stark. On average in the UK, the time between a 
patient’s first symptoms and their diagnosis is 163 days. So 
last year we increased our support to help GPs and laboratory 
staff recognise myeloma, we identified the key changes that will 
cut diagnosis times, and we announced a landmark research 
investment to break down the barriers to early diagnosis.

Looking back on 2021: 

DIAGNOSE

Looking back on 2021



Diagnose
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Supporting GPs to  
spot myeloma sooner
When myeloma is identified by a GP, almost 
nine in ten patients survive for more than a 
year. If the disease is only recognised after 
a patient has needed to seek emergency 
help, that number drops to just over six in 
ten. We are determined to change that, and 
by providing effective tools and education 
materials to GPs, we can speed up detection, 
referral and diagnosis times. 

In 2021, we published a new guide to 
myeloma and monoclonal gammopathy of 
undetermined significance (MGUS) created 
specifically for GPs. Written in partnership 
with GPs, haematologists, clinical scientists 
and immunologists, the guide reflects what 
GPs told us they wanted to know more about. 
It covers the red flags of myeloma, the most 
effective tests, how to interpret test results 
and when to refer a patient for further support. 

To reach as many GPs as possible, we 
launched the guide at a series of major 
conferences including the Royal College of 
General Practitioners Annual Primary Care 
Conference in Liverpool and the GP Best 
Practice Show. We also launched a related 
module – ‘Myeloma: practical tips for primary 
care’ – in partnership with the British Medical 
Journal’s education team, BMJ Learning. Initial 
feedback for both has been excellent, and we’ll 
keep raising awareness of the guide and the 
online module so more people get effective 
support more quickly.

More than 200 copies of our new 
guide to myeloma and monoclonal 
gammopathy of undetermined 
significance (MGUS) were  
distributed directly to GPs  
at national conferences 

Unravelling the  
‘Mysteries of myeloma’
After a survey of UK hospital laboratories 
highlighted the key role laboratory staff play in 
diagnosing myeloma, we launched a new series 
of webinars in 2021 to promote best practice in 
reporting myeloma test results. 

The survey showed that lab reports can have 
a significant impact on whether GPs refer 
patients for specialist support. Insightful 
comments and recommendations helped  
GPs make effective decisions and reduced 
delays, but reporting standards were different 
from lab to lab – so we set up the webinars to 
increase consistency.

Developed in partnership with the UK National 
External Quality Assessment Service (NEQAS), 
the ‘Mysteries of myeloma’ webinars covered 
issues including dealing with tricky cases and 
understanding the challenges and pitfalls 
of testing for myeloma. Recordings of all the 
sessions are now available on our Myeloma 
Academy website, so current and future 
laboratory staff can build their knowledge 
of how to reduce the chances of myeloma 
diagnosis being delayed. 

Over 80% of laboratory staff who 
attended our ‘Mysteries of myeloma’ 
webinars said that they now 
have a good understanding 
of what myeloma is  

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Investing in research to 
reduce diagnosis times
In July 2021, we launched a new funding call 
– Early diagnosis for myeloma. We wanted to 
support pioneering studies that could help cut 
detection and diagnosis times for myeloma. 
Through this initiative, we will invest up to 
£250,000 in two innovative, clearly defined 
research projects that could:

    Address the factors that delay  
diagnosis times.

    Build our knowledge of how myeloma 
develops, with a view to screening individuals 
who could be at risk.

    Improve how myeloma is diagnosed. 

The funding call closed in late 2021, and  
the winning projects will begin in 2022. 
Together, through research, we will improve  
the quality of life for people with myeloma  
and related conditions. 

Calling for policy change 
and parity for myeloma
To bring diagnosis times for myeloma in 
line with other cancers, we published the 
Myeloma UK Policy Position Paper on myeloma 
diagnosis in England. In it, we identified 
current policy gaps and made several urgent 
recommendations, calling for:

    New measurement and benchmarking of 
myeloma diagnosis and treatment times, to 
help reduce the number of people who need 
emergency help before myeloma is identified.

    Patients to be able to refer themselves to 
Rapid Diagnostic Centres. 

    Increased education and support for GPs.

    Investment in genomic testing and better 
monitoring of conditions that can be a 
precursor of myeloma.

Looking back on 2021



In 2022 we will
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    Release our Lab Best Practice Tool, which has been created to help laboratories understand 
what key elements of myeloma screening should be included in their service. It will also help 
with reporting of results so that GPs know what follow-up actions are required.

    Complete our MGUS project with the University of Oxford which will analyse patient data to 
identify characteristics which may increase or decrease the risk of developing MGUS.

    Help GPs feel more confident in spotting, testing, and referring suspected myeloma patients 
through our “Myeloma Early Diagnosis Course”.

    Promote our myeloma health economic model, the first economic model which has estimated 
the healthcare costs associated with the delayed diagnosis of myeloma – around £19,000  
per patient. 

 “As the NHS Long Term Plan 
currently stands, the metrics it 
bases performance and policy 
recommendations on don’t fit 
a blood cancer like myeloma  
This means that we don’t 
feature on the policy radar, 
and we fall further behind 
more common, tumour-based 
cancers in improvements  

  Every cancer patient deserves 
the best chance to stay with 
their loved ones for as long as 
possible  Removing the barriers 
to making a timely, correct 
diagnosis is critical and people 
with suspected myeloma 
do not have time to wait ”
– Shelagh McKinlay, Myeloma UK 

Head of Patient Advocacy

Diagnose

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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YOU’RE HELPING TO DISCOVER 
AND SHARE KNOWLEDGE
By funding and supporting scientific research into the causes 
and treatment of myeloma, we can improve patients’ lives today 
and move closer to a future where the cure for myeloma is finally 
identified. In 2021, we celebrated research results that suggest 
personalised treatment for high-risk patients may soon be within 
reach, we joined a major research collaboration to increase our 
joint impact, and we began investigating how where you live 
affects the support you receive. 

Looking back on 2021: 

DISCOVER
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 “All these drugs are already 
individually licensed and 
available so we know they are 
safe, and that means the new 
combination could potentially 
be made available for patients 
quickly. I hope the NHS will 
consider our data as soon as 
possible. To work together with 
Myeloma UK on research is 
fantastic  It is a patient-centric 
charity, which means that 
these projects, which are really 
aiming to benefit patients are 
particularly prioritised, and I 
think we are really seeing the 
results of that coming through ”
– Dr Martin Kaiser, Institute of Cancer 

Research (pictured on previous page)

Finding better ways  
to support patients  
most at risk
In December, results of the OPTIMUM/MUK 
nine trial were presented at the American 
Society of Haematology’s annual meeting. 
The trial had been exploring how to improve 
treatment for patients with the most 
aggressive, high-risk forms of myeloma. The 
David Forbes-Nixon Foundation is supporting 
Myeloma UK through the Jaquelin Forbes-
Nixon Research Fellowship which helps to fund 
one of the lead investigators, Dr Martin Kaiser, 
at the Institute of Cancer Research (ICR).

We know that myeloma is a complex cancer and 
can be difficult to treat. Current treatments that 
work well for some people don’t work for others, 
meaning new options are urgently needed. 

We also know, as a result of the research we 
have funded at the ICR, how to identify high-
risk patients using certain genetic changes 
in myeloma cells that are more common in 
patients who respond less well to treatment 
and relapse more quickly. The OPTIMUM/
MUK nine trial built on this research by using 
state-of-the-art diagnostics and genetic 
profiling to screen for high-risk patients. 
These patients were then given an innovative 
intensive treatment regimen which included a 
combination of five drugs, high-dose therapy 
and a stem cell transplant. 

The results created real reason for hope.  
After 18 months, 82% of patients who  
received the intensive treatment were still in 
remission, compared with 66% who received 
a standard treatment. Overall, patients who 
received the new treatment had a 99% chance 
of having a longer remission time than those  
on standard treatment. 

Dr Martin Kaiser hopes that treatments that  
are genuinely tailored to patients’ needs will 
soon become the norm.

Thanks to our supporters, we can achieve 
the breakthroughs that transform the hopes 
of myeloma patients. Together we will keep 
searching for new answers and better ways to 
help everyone diagnosed with myeloma. 

Discover

https://www.myeloma.org.uk


 “We hope the findings of 
this study will contribute to 
improved patient outcomes 
and experiences by identifying 
areas associated with poorer 
outcomes and highlighting 
areas needing greater support  
Our goal is a future where all 
myeloma patients in the UK 
have equal access to care ”
– Dr Charlene McShane, Lecturer in Cancer 

Epidemiology at Queen’s University Belfast
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Exploring whether 
location affects treatment
Our singular focus on myeloma enables us to 
identify issues that might otherwise be missed, 
and in November we announced the launch of a 
new research project that could help us do just 
that. Led by Dr Charlene McShane, Lecturer 
in Cancer Epidemiology at Queen’s University 
Belfast, the Myeloma Geographical Equalities 
Audit will investigate how patients’ locations 
affect the support they receive. 

Using anonymised patient data from cancer 
registries in Scotland and Northern Ireland, 
researchers will look at geographical variations 
in the number of patients living with myeloma, 
the number of newly diagnosed patients, and 
the outcomes of treatment. They will then 
combine this with patients’ views from online 
surveys to understand how any regional 
variations can affect quality of life. Based on 
our findings, we will then consider whether to 
extend the research to the whole of the UK.

In 2021 Myeloma UK’s 
research passed the AMRC 
2020 Peer Review Audit 
meaning that our 
research meets best 
practice in the UK.

Joining forces to advance 
cancer research 
We were delighted to become a partner of 
the National Cancer Research Institute (NCRI) 
in May, forming closer links than ever with a 
wealth of cancer research charities and funding 
bodies representing all four UK nations.

We have seen throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic how collaboration can accelerate 
progress. The Vaccine Research Collaborative 
described on page 23 is just one example of 
this. Like Myeloma UK, the NCRI has a strong 
focus on patient involvement in research, 
and we are looking forward to being part of 
groundbreaking research collaborations that 
will make life better for patients living with all 
forms of cancer. It is also another way to make 
sure the views and needs of myeloma patients 
are heard and acted upon. 

The same can be said of our new patient data 
initiative, led by University College London, 
also launched in 2021. The initiative will take 
advantage of the National Institute of Health 
Research’s Health Informatics Collaborative to 
make data about myeloma patients easier to 
collect and analyse, by developing a system to 
standardise the information collected across 
different hospitals that is often recorded and 
stored in different formats. By standardising 
this information, we can open a path towards 
pioneering data analysis that helps identify 
more effective ways to care for and treat 
myeloma patients.

Looking back on 2021
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 “As a patient I’ve been delighted 
to be able to play a part in the 
myeloma data collaboration 
within the NIHR Health Informatics 
Collaborative (HIC). This significant 
project has the potential to 
generate a national picture of 
the entire myeloma patient 
experience across the UK, 
helping to collate data and 
build the evidence that will 
push forward and steer 
research and improvements 
in treatments and services 
for all myeloma patients ”
– Eddie Carr, APP Member

A record 29 
publications 
from Myeloma UK 
funded research 
were published  
in 2021 

In 2022 we will
    Begin work on two exciting research projects, funded by Myeloma UK, which will investigate the 
barriers to screening for myeloma and predicting which smouldering myeloma patients will go 
onto develop myeloma. 

    Continue to lead on the design and development of impactful, patient-friendly myeloma  
clinical trials by extending the Concept Research and Access Programme (CARP) for two  
more years. Our funding enabled the development of the ProMMise Trial which will open in 
2022, giving relapsed patients access to novel treatment delivered in different combinations.

Discover

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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YOU’RE HELPING TO TRANSFORM 
THE PATIENT EXPERIENCE
By listening to the myeloma community, we can identify the 
biggest issues patients face and take action to address them. Last 
year, we celebrated the approval of a breakthrough treatment, we 
recognised four hospitals that go further for myeloma patients, and 
we analysed the impact of our information and support services. 

Looking back on 2021: 

TRANSFORM



   myeloma.org.uk | 17

Welcoming a landmark treatment after years of input
In January, the National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence (NICE) recommended the 
use of lenalidomide (Revlimid®) maintenance 
for newly diagnosed myeloma patients 
following high-dose therapy and stem cell 
transplantation. It was a true breakthrough 
moment for myeloma – and testament to the 
power of persistence. 

NICE had initially refused to recommend 
lenalidomide maintenance in September 2020. 
This prompted us to work more closely than ever 
with patients, clinicians, and the pharmaceutical 
industry to show just what a difference the 
treatment would make – and the pressure told. 

We have been pushing for lenalidomide 
maintenance to be available on the NHS for 
years. It’s seen as the gold standard for many 
myeloma patients, and back in 2016 we were 

involved in the clinical trial – the largest ever for 
myeloma – that assessed its effectiveness. 

Then, in 2020, 460 people completed our 
patient survey to share their experiences, 
and 98% of them supported the treatment’s 
approval. We shared this first-hand evidence 
with NICE, as well as making the case for 
approval in many meetings and with partners. It 
was the latest example of how patients’ insights 
can and must inspire progress. 

Our Advocacy Partner Panel ensured 
that patient need and experience 
were at the heart of 10 drug 
appraisals this year which  
resulted in five approvals  
for four new treatments. 

Transform

Patient experts like Steve Billcliffe played a critical role 
in convincing NICE to overturn its initial refusal and 
recommend lenalidomide maintenance 

“Lenalidomide maintenance has given me 
six years of remission from myeloma 
and an enhanced quality of life  
Despite an initially gloomy prognosis 
I have gone on to enjoy retirement  
Family holidays at the seaside, 
attending my sister’s wedding, 
receiving a Master’s degree, being 
active in the garden, and celebrating 
the arrival of a new granddaughter 
have all been enjoyably possible  

 I am very grateful to have been 
able to take part in the Myeloma 
XI trial and am delighted that newly 
diagnosed myeloma patients will 
have the chance to benefit from 
the same treatment in the future ”

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Putting patients at the heart of drug appraisals
Myeloma patients depend on new treatment 
options to live longer, fuller lives, especially 
if their myeloma has become resistant to 
existing treatments. We make sure patients’ 
experiences are listened to as decisions 
are made on new treatments, and we were 
delighted that three treatments as well as 
lenalidomide maintenance were successfully 
approved in 2021. This includes a new 
carfilzomib (Krypolis®) based treatment 
for patients at first relapse, an innovative 
daratumumab (Darzalex®) based quadruplet 
for newly diagnosed myeloma patients, and an 
isatuximab (Sarclisa®) based triplet for patients 
at second relapse in Scotland following input 
from the myeloma community. 

We also made sure patients’ views were included 
in ongoing appraisals. Members of our Advocacy 
Partner Panel (which you can read more about 
on page 24) joined a focus group to share their 
opinions about cilta-cel, the first CAR-T cell 
treatment for myeloma to be appraised for use 
through the NHS. We also interviewed patients 
to gather evidence to support the appraisal for 
the first AL amyloidosis specific combination 
treatment and surveyed 139 patients as part 
of a review of ixazomib (Ninlaro®), lenalidomide 
and dexamethasone. We also provided patient 
feedback to a review of the use of daratumumab  
as a single drug at third relapse – and we’ll  
keep making sure real-life experiences are  
taken into account whenever new treatments 
become possible.

Looking back on 2021
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Recognising hospitals delivering high-quality support 
Through our Clinical Service Excellence 
Programme (CSEP), we accredited three 
hospitals that proved their willingness to go 
further for myeloma patients last year. They were 
Leicester Royal Infirmary, Royal Derby Hospital, 
and University College London Hospital (UCLH). 
We also delivered our first reaccreditation 
to Queen’s Hospital, Burton, which was first 
recognised through CSEP in 2017.

Hospitals apply to attain the CSEP award to 
demonstrate their commitment to providing 
quality patient-focused care, to celebrate 
success, and to identify any areas for 
improvement. The programme looks at all 
aspects of clinical care, as well as ensuring 
patients’ voices are at the heart of decision-
making. Accreditation requires a visit from 
Myeloma UK staff, the submission of at least 
20 surveys from patients and self-assessment 
against our best practice standards. 

There was much to celebrate in last year’s 
successful applicants. At Leicester Royal 
Infirmary, we were impressed by the team’s 
efforts to ensure clinical trials are inclusive. In 
Queen’s Hospital, Burton, staff had reacted 
swiftly to switch to virtual clinics for vulnerable 

patients during the pandemic. At Royal Derby 
Hospital, myeloma patients were clearly 
benefitting from close teamwork and staff 
relationships with other hospital departments. 
And at UCLH, the emphasis on telemedicine, 
large clinical trials, and myeloma research all 
stood out. 

It is heartening to see the level of innovation 
and care on show at CSEP-accredited hospitals 
and to understand how much CSEP recognition 
means. Christine Skeet, Haematology Clinical 
Nurse Specialist at Royal Derby Hospital 
explained her pride at the award, saying: 

“I am thrilled that we have been 
awarded the Myeloma UK CSEP 
accreditation. This means such a lot 
to the myeloma team. We are a close-
knit team who work incredibly hard to 
provide patients with the best possible 
care, support, and treatment. To hear 
such positive feedback from patients 
was uplifting and inspiring, as they are 
at the heart of all we do.” 

Transform

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Investigating the impact of our support 
We are determined to ensure all of our work makes life better for people with myeloma. Every year, 
many thousands of patients and family members come to us for information, to ask questions and to 
seek support from each other. Last year, we launched a major survey to understand what is working and 
where we need to improve. The results were heartening – and show how our services help supporters 
every day. 

Looking back on 2021

92%  
of patients said our 

information and support  
services give them  
more confidence  

to make decisions.

93%  
have more  

clarity on what 
to ask healthcare 

professionals  

89%  
feel less isolated  

and alone. 

89%  
said they felt confident 
they can live well with 

their diagnosis. 

96%  
said they were  

better informed.

92%  
said they  

felt supported.  
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In 2022 we will
    Continue to lift the standard of care for myeloma patients across the country through our CSEP 
programme. We will recruit new hospitals, share best practice and encourage a holistic approach  
to diagnosis, treatment, and care. 

    Develop new patient information on treatments and conditions, including an Infosheet on 
Monoclonal Gammopathy of Clinical Significance (MGCS) to ensure that Myeloma UK has the most 
comprehensive library of patient information on myeloma and related conditions, helping patients 
to understand and be in control of their decision-making. 

    Launch our Myeloma Nurse Guide series to enable nurses to deliver the highest possible 
treatment, care and support to myeloma patients and their families.

    Continue to ensure that the patient voice is at the heart of the drug appraisal process with  
both NICE and the SMC: our patients were involved in five appraisals that will reach their 
conclusion in 2022. 

Transform

We are always looking to offer support in new ways, and throughout 2021 we ran 10 Digital Infoday 
Sessions, focused on everything from the long-term effects of myeloma to coping as a carer. 
Feedback was extremely positive and the number of people viewing the sessions continues to grow. 

92% of those who attended our Digital Infoday Sessions 
said they felt more confident in making 
decisions about their treatment and care.

Our Support Groups also continued to meet – mostly virtually – 
across the UK, and we organised a national digital event to 
bring together Group Leaders and members to discuss 
challenges and ways to keep improving. We also 
announced our new Peer Programme, calling for 
volunteers to join us to offer one-to-one support 
and online advice to others with myeloma. The 
programme will launch in full in 2022 as we strive  
to transform the patient experience.

Patient demand for the Myeloma 
Infoline and Ask the Nurse email 
service continued to grow with 
2,780 calls to our Infoline and 
1,115 emails to our Ask the 
Nurse service  

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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YOU’RE INFLUENCING  
POSITIVE CHANGE IN CARE
Throughout 2021, with the COVID-19 pandemic continuing 
to have a major impact on myeloma patient care, our work to 
put patients’ needs at the heart of policy decisions gained a 
new level of urgency. In response, we formed a new advocacy 
panel to ensure our work is always informed by real, up-to-date 
experiences, we joined a new vaccine research partnership to 
show the risks of COVID-19 for blood cancer patients, and we 
shaped government policy across all four UK nations. 

Looking back on 2021: 

INFLUENCE
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Standing up for patients 
in a pandemic
As shielding ended and lockdown restrictions 
eased in many parts of the UK, we launched 
two COVID-19 Patient and Carer surveys to 
understand the impact the pandemic had on 
myeloma patients and their families. More 
than half of the respondents told us they were 
feeling anxious about the changes, particularly 
as serious questions remained about the level 
of protection provided by vaccines to blood 
cancer patients. 

2,473 people engaged in our 
COVID-19 Patient and Carer 
Surveys. This represents the 
largest engagement in our  
research to date 

Based on our findings, we called on the UK 
Government to make urgent changes, such as 
resuming medicine deliveries to those at most 
risk of contracting COVID-19 and supporting 
people with weakened immune systems 
to work from home. We also called for a 
sustained programme of research into vaccine 
effectiveness and worked to advance research 
ourselves. 

Throughout the year, we made sure myeloma 
patients weren’t ignored as the pandemic 
progressed. After we received numerous 
calls from patients who had been offered a 
COVID-19 booster but not a third vaccine dose, 
we put out a statement to break through the 
confusion. Official guidance announced in 
September stated that patients with severely 
weakened immune systems required a third 
vaccine dose before a booster, but we had clear 
evidence that some GPs and vaccine centres 
had misunderstood this. As well as raising 
public awareness of the issue, we published a 
letter for myeloma patients to use to explain 
their eligibility for a third vaccine dose as well 
as a booster. 

More than 30,000 people 
engaged with our trusted 
information on the  
COVID-19 vaccine. 

Collaborating to increase 
vaccine knowledge 
By linking with Blood Cancer UK, Anthony 
Nolan, and the British Society for Haematology 
to form the Blood Cancer UK Vaccine Research 
Collaborative, we rapidly delivered a new level 
of insight into how patients with myeloma 
and other blood cancers were responding to 
COVID-19 vaccines. 

We had big questions to answer. How did 
myeloma treatments affect vaccines? Which 
vaccines, if any, worked best for myeloma 
patients? As part of the Collaborative, we 
shared patients’ experiences, identified gaps 
in existing knowledge and funded research to 
answer these questions and more.

The PREPARE study was one of many projects 
funded by the Collaborative. Led by our Board 
Member Dr Karthik Ramasamy, it involved 
collecting data from over a hundred myeloma 
patients to understand how well vaccines were 
working. By October, PREPARE had shown that 
93% of myeloma patients had an antibody 
response after two vaccine doses. This gave 
people a crucial level of insight that was not 
available elsewhere. 

Influence

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Supporting our 
community to be heard
To make the most effective, most informed 
decisions for myeloma patients, politicians, 
senior NHS staff and drug approval bodies 
need to understand what life is really like for 
people living with myeloma. 

Last year, to make sure patients’ voices were 
heard and continue to be heard, we formed the 
Myeloma UK Advocacy Partner Panel (APP). 
It’s a group of 20 patients, carers, friends, and 

family who will now shape all of our advocacy 
work, share their experiences in the media and 
engage with parliamentary groups and drug 
approval bodies. 

The APP met three times in 2021 and members 
have already contributed to the joint COVID-19 
enquiry by the All-Party Parliamentary Group 
on Blood Cancer and Stem Cell Transplantation 
and Advanced Cellular Therapies, and given 
their insights to multiple drug appraisals and 
shared their stories. We can’t wait to see what 
APP members like Rosie (see box) do next. 

Rosie Dill joined our Advocacy Partner Panel in 2021 and has already championed the voice 
of the myeloma community at parliamentary meetings and influenced NICE’s decision to 
approve a new treatment for newly diagnosed myeloma patients.

“With myeloma, there are lots of things you can’t control. The one thing 
you can control is the way you think about it and what you do about it  
You can’t change the fact that you’re on this train and you can’t get off. But 
getting involved in advocacy is in my control  It’s one of the things I can do 
that’s positive  I feel like I’m making a contribution 
There are many ways patients can help. 
You don’t have to go down the policy 
or drugs approval route  You can 
help Myeloma UK with research, 
campaigns or to shape reports 
by sharing your stories  Nobody 
understands what it’s like to 
have myeloma and the impact  
it has on quality of life better 
than you ”

Looking back on 2021
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Putting myeloma on the 
political agenda
Throughout the year, we met with senior 
decision-makers and submitted patient-led 
evidence to keep up the pressure for improved 
care. For example, in our submission to the 
Health and Social Care Committee’s inquiry  
into clearing the backlog caused by the 
pandemic, we called on the Government to 
urgently restore myeloma research to  
pre-pandemic levels. 

We also worked closely with key figures 
in all UK nations. In Scotland, we met with 
the Cabinet Secretary for Health to discuss 
myeloma patients’ needs, while in Wales we 
met twice with the Minister for Health to share 
our concerns about government plans to move 
away from following a detailed cancer strategy. 
And in Northern Ireland, we were involved in the 
co-creation of the new national cancer strategy, 
which includes key recommendations on the 
diagnosis and treatment of blood cancer. 

Also, in 2021 we made the financial case for 
early diagnosis, publishing a new economic 
model showing how an earlier diagnosis of 
myeloma not only improves outcomes for 
patients but can create significant cost savings 
for health providers too. Our analysis suggested 
that when myeloma is identified after a patient 
visits a GP, rather than needing emergency 
help, the average cost saving per patient is  

In 2022 we will

    Continue putting patients at the heart of government and policy, seeking out further 
opportunities for the Myeloma UK Advocacy Partner Panel to influence the work of government 
by speaking at more events, informing policy papers, and influencing NICE and SMC panels.

    Raise the profile of Myeloma UK and the voice of patients in the media across the UK.

    Launch our report into delayed diagnosis to highlight the unmet needs for myeloma patients 
caused by a delay in diagnosis and call upon all four governments to include quality of life for 
myeloma patients as a key part of their cancer strategies.

over £19,000 – the result of fewer complications 
and reduced need for end-of-life care. 

We shared this research at health conferences 
throughout 2021 and will continue to do so as 
we build the case for better myeloma care from 
every possible angle. 

 Influence

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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HOW OUR FANTASTIC FUNDRAISERS 
WENT ABOVE AND BEYOND 
The imagination and determination of the myeloma community 
knows no bounds. In 2021 COVID-19 restrictions continued to pose 
challenges for fundraising, with many of our events having to stay 
virtual. However, thanks to our amazing supporters and virtual 
events like the London Paris Ride, we were still able to meet our 
targets. Here’s just a taste of how people raised and donated life-
changing funds to stand alongside people with myeloma last year.

Looking back on 2021: 

FUNDRAISING
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    497 people organised a fundraising event: everything from  
a coffee morning to a sponsored head shave.

    Over 1,000 supporters played our Lottery every week (you’re  
all winners to us).

    25 people left a gift to Myeloma UK in their will, adding up to  
an incredible £700,000.

    Donations to our Hopeful Futures appeal – launched to help 
tackle the ongoing legacy of COVID-19 – raised over £150,000, 
and our Spread Hope This Christmas appeal raised a further 
£43,000.

    395 people dedicated a Myeloma Star to a loved one at 
Christmas, raising £10,900.

    359 people asked friends and family to donate to our work to 
celebrate their birthday, wedding, retirement or anniversary,  
and their kindness turned into £128,000 to support our work. 

    Over 2,000 people gave a regular donation to transform the 
lives of myeloma patients, adding up to a total of £333,000.

    220 people set up online memorial pages to celebrate  
the lives of loved ones they have lost, raising an  
average of £1,290 each.

    383 people pushed themselves to the  
limit at challenge events from skydives 
to the Great North Run, raising over 
£460,000.

Fundraising

In numbers

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Deb Gascoyne was diagnosed with myeloma 
aged just 34, in 2009. Since then, she has 
raised an unbelievable £160,000 towards 
research into new treatments. 

In 2019, Deb set herself a new fundraising 
challenge: the 50B450 campaign to raise 
£50,000 before she turns 50 in 2024. She’s 
well on her way to reaching her target – and in 
2021, her son Sam got in on the act too, setting 
himself the task of completing 15 challenges 
before his 15th birthday. 

“Myeloma UK as a charity is making a 
difference to my future and the future of other 
people,” Deb says. “The changes that have 
happened since I was diagnosed are huge. I 
never dreamed I would have that much time 
when I started treatment.” 

“Fundraising gives me control and a target. It’s 
been a lifesaver. And I genuinely believe we are 

on the point of a cure,” she adds. “I hope I get  
to see my children having children, I want to 
meet their partners. I feel that it’s in my grasp –  
12 years ago I never thought it was going  
to be an option.”

One of those children, Sam, completed his 
own 15B415 challenge three weeks ahead 
of schedule in August, raising £8,833 for 
Myeloma UK and receiving a coveted British 
Youth Citizen Award for his efforts. 

“I can’t remember a time when my mum didn’t 
have myeloma,” Sam says. “When she was 
diagnosed, she was only given two to five years 
to live. She was afraid she was never going to 
see me or my sister go to high school. Now I am 
in year 11 and my sister is in year 12. What a 
way we have come.”

We’d like to extend our heartfelt thanks to 
Deb and Sam for their unstoppable efforts.

“ Fundraising gives me control and a target.  
It’s been a lifesaver.”
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Fundraising

 Paula Summerfield Walters lost her dad, James, to myeloma in 2020.  
She completed our Lost in Lapland challenge in 2021 (and in 2020), running  
100km between 1 and 24 December in his memory. Paula, you’re a hero. 

“Covering 100km in 24 days was a challenge but Lost in Lapland 
is a fun way of having a positive focus – and a great way of 
honouring my dad and all he stood for  

 It would be my dearest wish if there was 
a cure and that’s why I did this for 
Myeloma UK. They advocate for 
patients and get new treatments 
approved  I know that the drugs 
and treatment options my 
dad had made a difference. 
For people with myeloma, 
they are like gold dust  
They give us all hope.

 I don’t want myeloma 
to win, and I don’t want 
people to go through 
what my family went 
through  Myeloma for me 
is the enemy  Every time I 
ran, I felt like I was kicking it  
It was me against myeloma ”

In 2022 we will
    Aim to achieve income growth to continue to fund our vital services, advocacy, and 
research programmes. 

    Continue to build excellent and efficient supporter journeys that inform, inspire, and thank our 
amazing donors.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk


Delivering on our promises
In 2020 we refocused and refreshed our strategy, but our purpose 
remains the same: giving every patient an empowered present and a 
hopeful future. Our ambition for 2021 and beyond is that our work will 
deliver across our four strategic cornerstones. Here is a snapshot of 
what we have delivered this year.

Diagnose myeloma earlier
 We will accelerate work on earlier detection and diagnosis to make the 
greatest impact on the length and quality of life for myeloma patients and 
those with related conditions.

The Myeloma UK Early Diagnosis Programme worked to identify and address 
barriers to earlier diagnosis. We formed the Lab Best Practice Working Group 
to better understand the inconsistencies in reporting abnormal results and to 
look at the support needed for laboratory staff. 

  We launched a Myeloma and MGUS GP Guide to help GPs to diagnose 
myeloma and monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance which  
we distributed at two national GP events in 2021. 

In July 2021, we launched a new funding call, Early Diagnosis for Myeloma, 
for new and innovative research projects focused on helping improve the 
diagnosis of myeloma. 

Discover and share knowledge
We will drive scientific breakthrough into the cause and treatment of 
myeloma and related conditions to increase patient survival and improve 
patient experience.

  We funded translational research at the ICR to accelerate the development 
of personalised medicine for myeloma patients. The results of the Optimum/
MUK nine trial, published in December, is one of the first steps in finding better 
treatments for high-risk patients. 

   We helped unleash the power of myeloma patient data through a pilot project 
as part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Informatics 
Collaborative (HIC) which will drive improvements in patient care. 

We completed a pilot study to investigate the use of an App which will support 
myeloma patients and healthcare professionals to engage in shared decision-
making and improve patient experience. 

  Two COVID-19 Patient and Carer Surveys identified the challenges patients  
faced during the latter part of the pandemic and the changes to restrictions 
during 2021. 
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Transform the patient experience 
We will partner with patients to understand and meet their needs and build 
equal care for all. 

We were proud to work with patients throughout 2021 to tackle the issues that 
are important to them and transform patient care across the UK. Our Advocacy 
Partner Panel ensured that patient need and experience were at the heart 
of 10 drug appraisals this year, which resulted in five approvals for four new 
treatments across both NICE and the SMC. 

Despite the restrictions caused by the pandemic, we continued to drive 
excellence in patient-centred care through our Clinical Services Excellence 
Programme (CSEP) delivering three accreditations and our very first  
re-accreditation. 

At the end of 2021, we were delighted to start the recruitment and training 
of our Peer Buddies. Our Peer Buddies, who have experience of myeloma, will 
provide support to others who are navigating their myeloma journey.

   We developed the isatuximab treatment guide, lenalidomide maintenance 
treatment guide, eye complications Infosheet and MGUS patient diary, all of 
which help patients understand and be in control of their decision-making. 

Influence positive change in care
We will give a voice to patients and ensure that myeloma is not considered 
a second-class cancer.

   We are proud to have elevated the voice of patients across all four UK nations 
during 2021. 

We fought for patients who were potentially missing out on their third vaccine 
dose, by raising the issue with governments across the UK and in the media 
and by developing a letter to inform health care professionals. We also gave 
evidence to the Health and Social Care Committee. 

Our Patient and Carer Research Panel were instrumental in the development 
of our lockdown snapshot surveys providing valuable insight into the issues 
around COVID-19 vaccinations. The results of these surveys were featured in 
national news and shaped our calls upon government as changes were made 
to COVID-19 protection measures. 

We joined with several partners to amplify the voice of myeloma patients 
including the Blood Cancer Alliance, the Blood Cancer UK Vaccine  
Research Collaborative, Cancer52, The Scottish Cancer Coalition,  
The Welsh Cancer Alliance. 
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Investing in change
Myeloma UK has always been committed  
to making sustainable investments that 
improve the lives of patients with myeloma 
and related conditions. As a result of this 
approach, plus the gains through surpluses we 
have made over recent years and unexpected 
levels of legacy income, we go into 2022 
showing strong reserves. Consequently, we 
can move forward with a higher spending 
programme that still leaves us in a strong 
financial position.

As 2022 progresses, we will be actively  
looking at how we allocate that to meet 
ongoing and emerging areas of patient need, 
and in anticipation of our next full strategic 
review in 2023.

Partnership 
working 
We continued to work in partnership with a 
wide range of organisations and individuals 
who shared our focus on positive change 
for the myeloma community. During 2021, 
we rolled out a suite of collaborations and 
partnerships with myeloma patients, families 
and carers, and our wider supporters. This 
ensures that the patient voice shapes our 
advocacy and research work, as well as 
external research conducted across the UK. 
Topics have ranged from COVID-19 measures 
to geographical inequalities in care, to our 
website, including the types of information we 
provide and how we provide it.

We are proud to be a member of the Blood 
Cancer Alliance and to work with our fellow 
members on representing the views of 
blood cancer patients across the UK. In 
2021, we continued to offer staff expertise 
and financial resources to the Blood Cancer 
UK Vaccine Research Collaborative and 
support the funding of research examining 
the levels of protection offered to myeloma 
patients through COVID-19 vaccination. We 
are a member of the Association of Medical 
Research Charities and successfully passed 
our quinquennial compliance review this year.

We supported AMRC campaigns on  
restarting investment in clinical research post 
COVID-19. We work with the UK Myeloma 

Research Alliance (UKMRA) to support 
a constant stream of new clinical trials, 
providing patient access to new treatments 
and new treatment combinations.

We partner with pharmaceutical and 
diagnostic companies, insisting that all our 
partners are committed to working in a 
responsible and accountable way. We require 
a mutual commitment to open and transparent 
working and expect all our partnerships 
and projects to be based on achieving clear, 
patient-focused objectives. This kind of 
partnership working is essential to deliver 
clinical trials that help patients access new 
treatments and therapies.

In 2021 we continued to invest in developing 
our conversations with pharmaceutical and 
diagnostic companies. We also began scoping 
a new engagement model for working with 
private sector partners based on delivering 
patient-led, innovative and impactful progress 
through partnerships. We will continue to 
develop and roll out this model in 2022.

Our people
We continued to support remote working 
for all staff during 2021. Through staff 
consultation, we made changes to our office 
space to enable socially-distanced working, 
and to support more people working from 
our office, when it was permissible to do so. 
We delivered our largest investment to date 
in staff wellbeing, which included manager 
training, coaching, and counselling services.

Organisationally, we integrated wellbeing 
into our structure through the creation of 
a wellbeing leads group and changes to 
operational planning. We conducted a second 
comprehensive series of staff discussions to 
look at a phased return to the office to support 
hybrid working. These discussions have 
enabled us to make further investments in 
technology to support this new working model, 
including equipping some meeting spaces 
with technology to support blended meetings.

We continue to note our sincere thanks 
to all our volunteers, supporters, donors 
and fundraisers. Without their support and 
generosity we could not provide our much 
needed charitable services.
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£4.5m

Our income 
for the year 
was £4.5m

£3.9m

Our expenditure on 
meeting the needs of 

people affected by 
myeloma was £3.9m

£83p
From every £1 of 

expenditure, 83p was 
spent on improving 
the lives of people 

affected by myeloma

£1.6m
Our expenditure 

on research 
totalled £1.6m

Income

Total income for the year was £4.5m (2020: 
£4.7m). This is consistent with the previous 
year and saw growth in donations, community 
fundraising and event income, and a reduction 
in legacies. 

Our voluntary income remained strong at 
£3.9m (2020: £4.1m). Donations and legacies 
remained steady at £2.6m (2020: £2.8m).

Fundraising activities and events income 
exceeded £650k (2020: £555k) and include 
income from Myeloma UK events, other 
fundraising activities and Myeloma UK Lottery. 
We are very grateful for the significant and 
continuing financial support of all our donors 
and supporters.

Expenditure

Our expenditure for the year was £3.9m overall 
(2020: £3.2m), an increase of £0.7m on the 
previous year. The main increase, £738k, was 
on our research and development programme 
which included the Research Programmes at the 
Institute for Cancer Research.

We continued to operate with efficiency 
and effectiveness. Every pound spent on 
fundraising activity generated £6.70 (2020: 
£7.20) of income and for every pound spent 
83p (2020: 80p) was available to spend on our 
charitable activities.

£4.5m

Total
Income

Donations,
grants & legacies

£3.9m

Research and
development
£2k

Fundraising activities 
and events
£650k

Interest and
 other income

 £3k

£3.9m

Total
Expenditure

Research and 
development
£1.6m

Communications 
£0.6m Raising funds

£0.9m

Services
£0.9m

£4.5m

Total
Income

Donations,
grants & legacies

£3.9m

Research and
development
£2k

Fundraising activities 
and events
£650k

Interest and
 other income

 £3k

£3.9m

Total
Expenditure

Research and 
development
£1.6m

Communications 
£0.6m Raising funds

£0.9m

Services
£0.9m

Report of the Directors 
incorporating Strategic Report 
for the 12 months to December 2021 

Financial review
We ended the financial year with a surplus of £651,569 (2020 surplus £1,690,902). During 2021 our 
income was £4.5m, which was used for our ongoing investment in myeloma research and healthcare 
advocacy services.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Funds

Our Balance Sheet shows that we are in a 
strong position with a current ratio1 of 4.9:11 
(2020: 5.3:1); this position is largely attributed 
to significant cash balances which are held in 
anticipation of funding a significant portfolio 
of research activities in the medium term (see 
note 21) and investment into our new strategic 
plan for 2021 - 2023.

Reserves policy

At 31 December 2021 total reserves were 
£9.7m (2020: £9.0m); the total free unrestricted 
reserves net of fixed and intangible assets were 
£9.5m (2020: £8.7m).

Reserves are split between restricted, 
designated and general reserves as follows:

    Restricted Reserves, £160k (2020: £154k)

This represents funds that have been 
received to fund research or specific 
projects; further details of these reserves are 
provided in note 22. 

    Designated Reserves, £4.5m (2020: £4.3m)

This is comprised of a reserve designated for 
research purposes of £0.3m (2020: £0.8m), 
a reserve designated for grants payable 
commitments of £2.6m (2020: £1.1m) and 
a prudent reserve of £1.6m (2020: £2.4m) 
which represents a mid-range liability for the 
organisation (see Note 22). 

    General Reserves, £5m (2020: £4.5m)

The Directors approve recommendations for 
the use of funds from the General Funds for 
strategic commitments or restricted uses, 
taking into account the unpredictability 
of legacy income and the organisation’s 
reserves policy. Each year decisions are 
made about the use of reserves when the 
annual budget is prepared and approved. 
The Directors have considered the reserves 
required and have taken into account 
current and future liabilities. Our policy is to 
maintain a designated reserve amounting to 
a mid-range liability position for the charity. 

Investment policy

The organisation has a responsibility to its 
supporters and donors to utilise its funds 
for its charitable purpose and to use them 
with efficiency, effectiveness and economy. 
In addition, fiscal prudence is carried out 
at all times to safeguard the organisation’s 
assets. Any reserves and funds exceeding 
immediate cash requirements are considered 
for investment. In 2021 the Board restated 
its commitment to a risk averse and 
professionally managed stance on investment, 
with all funds invested at low risk to capital 
and with the aim of out-performing inflation 
risk. These quoted investments are stated 
at mid-market value at the balance sheet 
date and are managed by Ruffer LLP. The 
Statement of Financial Activities includes the 
net realised and unrealised gains and losses 
arising on revaluations during the year. 

Our investments are governed by investment 
and treasury policies that are reviewed by 
the Trustees on an annual basis. The policies 
are designed to balance the objective of 
maximising investment returns against the 
risk and liquidity of the investments. In the 
event of Myeloma UK facing difficult financial 
circumstances, these reserves would allow us 
to both meet our responsibilities to grant and 
research holders and for operations to continue 
during a period of managed adjustment to 
these new circumstances. Based on the 
economic climate, we are comfortable with the 
investment income achieved in 2021.

Grant making policy

All research grants awarded are subjected 
to a strict peer review process by various 
independent panels. The grant award process 
is in accordance with the Association of 
Medical Research Charities (AMRC) guidelines. 
Myeloma UK is a member of the AMRC. 

1 Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities 
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Risk management
Myeloma UK has a Risk Management Policy 
which defines our approach to risk and the 
process for identification and management 
of the organisation’s key strategic risks. 
Effective risk management is at the heart 
of the successful delivery of our strategy 
and for protecting the future sustainability 
of Myeloma UK. Risks are identified and 
assessed using a common matrix and scoring 

system. The risks are then reviewed and those 
considered to be high are discussed by the 
Executive Leadership Team on a monthly 
basis, as well as being reported on at all Board 
meetings, with action plans put in place to 
manage them. Table 1 provides a summary of 
the key risks identified and the steps taken in 
2021 in order to manage them:

Table 1: Myeloma UK Key Risks

Risk Mitigating action

Financial risk arising from an increasingly challenging 
fundraising environment and over dependence on 
individual networks for major income streams

      We focus on maintaining sufficient funds to 
meet our charitable objectives, through careful 
monitoring of actual results against the budget  
on a monthly basis.

      Our investments and reserves policies are set 
to ensure that we have the ability to cope with 
variations in income and retain adequate liquidity  
to meet liabilities.

      Maximise opportunities and existing strengths  
to deliver sustainable income growth.

Delay or non-completion of our research and services 
programmes due to lack of funds and/or recruitment 
of patients or staff

      Ensure adequate funds are in place through the 
implementation and delivery of the fundraising 
strategy and the designated reserve.

        Continuous close monitoring of research projects 
and early action taken when issues arise.

      To work closely and collaboratively with our research 
partners to enable recruitment of research staff.

Risks associated with information governance or 
security

      Action plan and staff training to ensure compliance 
with GDPR.

      Continuous review of IT security and staff training.

Failure to attract and retain staff       As part of our People Strategy, continue to 
develop and maintain employee reward scheme, 
performance programmes, and training plans to  
aid retention and ensure staff feel valued.

COVID-19         We carefully monitor the impact of the pandemic  
on income generation and ensure sufficient liquidity 
exists.

      We carefully monitor the impact of pandemic on 
delivery of our strategy including research, patient 
experience, treatment.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Going concern

The Directors are satisfied that the organisation 
has adequate unrestricted resources to continue 
to meet its objectives for the foreseeable future. 
The organisation continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing these financial 
statements. 

Governance, structure and management 

Incorporation and commencement: 
Myeloma UK was registered as a charity on 
8 April 1997; it is a charitable company limited 
by guarantee (Company Number SC190563) 
incorporated on 23 October 1998. It is 
allowed to dispense with the word “limited” 
in its title. The organisation is governed by its 
Memorandum and Articles of Association and 
is recognised as a charity (Scottish Charity 
number SC026116). During 2021 the Trustees 
completed a review of the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association for the purposes of good 
governance and latest best practice

Organisational structure

Working closely with the Chief Executive 
Officer, our Directors assume responsibility for 
the governance of the organisation; the setting 
of strategy; approval of budgets; financial 
planning; risk planning and investment strategy. 
All other tasks are the responsibility of the Chief 
Executive Officer, who at the year-end was 
supported by the Executive Directors and a 
team of 56 employees. Details of our Directors 
(during the 12 months and up to the date of 
this report) are available on page 37 under 
Company Information. Whilst Directors are 
elected at the organisation’s Annual General 
Meeting or are co-opted, they have no financial 
interest in the organisation. Each director is 
formally inducted and is provided with relevant 
information on the objectives and aims of 
Myeloma UK. 

An induction programme is in place to 
enable new Trustees to acquire a greater 
working knowledge and understanding of 
the organisation. Trustees also have the 
opportunity to attend an annual Board Away 
day where they meet with key staff members 
and learn more about the work of the charity. 
We also have in place an annual review policy 
where Trustees can meet individually with the 
Chair or Vice-chair to discuss any learning and 
development opportunities. During 2022 we 
intend to prepare a Trustees Handbook for all 

new and existing trustees that will replace the 
current Board pack.

Remuneration Policy

Our Board are responsible for the 
determination of Executive Remuneration 
and take advice from officers which includes 
the benchmarking of salaries and evaluation 
of terms and conditions before reaching any 
decisions. Decisions on all other staff salary 
levels are delegated to the Chief Executive 
Officer, with the Finance and Audit Committee 
considering the affordability of any proposed 
annual and incremental pay progression 
through the yearly budget setting cycle. 
There are two sub committees of the Board: 
The Finance and Audit Committee and a 
Nominations and Governance Committee. 
The Finance and Audit Committee is 
responsible for overseeing operations including 
the consideration of budgets, planning and HR 
matters. The Nominations and Governance 
Committee is responsible for ensuring that 
the board is comprised of members with the 
highest level and appropriate mix of skills 
and experience. There is also an Advisory 
Committee to the Board, the Research 
Advisory Group. This is advisory in nature and 
does not have the authority to act for or bind 
the organisation. The remit of the Research 
Advisory Group is to provide the Chief 
Executive Officer and Board with advice on the 
development, review and implementation of 
the organisation’s research strategy. 

Indemnity insurance

The charitable company maintains liability 
insurance for its directors and officers, which is 
a qualifying third party indemnity provision for 
the purpose of the Companies Act 2006. The 
indemnity insurance was in force throughout 
the financial year and remains currently in force.

Co-operation in pursuit  
of charitable objectives

In pursuit of our objectives, we co-operate with 
and partner a number of organisation’s including 
the Department of Health, the National Institute 
for Health Research, the Scottish Medicines 
Consortium, the Association of Medical 
Research Charities, the Blood Cancer Alliance 
and other relevant coalitions, networks and 
groups including other myeloma organisations.
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Company information
Directors

The Directors who served during the year 
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date  
of signing were:

Simon Linnett (Chair) (appointed 13 April 2021) 

Sir Frank Chapman (Vice Chair)
Alexander Montgomery (Treasurer)

Andrea Abrahams (appointed 13 April 2021)

Paul Brocklehurst (appointed 13 April 2021)

Alan Chant
Geraldine Haley
Sarah Henshaw
Dr Karthik Ramasamy
Dr Fenella Willis 
Lee Appleton (resigned 13 April 2021)

Marc Gordon (resigned 13 April 2021)

The Executive Directors, along with Chief 
Executive Officer are considered to be the key 
management personnel of the charity.

Executive Leadership Team

Chief Executive:  
Laura Kerby (resigned 28 February 2022)

Director of Marketing & Communications  
and Interim Acting CEO:  
Jo Nove 
Director of Healthcare Advocacy Services:  
Ira Laketic-Ljubojevic
Director of Research & Patient Advocacy:  
Sarah McDonald (resigned 28 February 2022)

Director of Income Generation:  
Jason Dyer (resigned 22 January 2021)

Director of Fundraising:  
Emily Legg (appointed 6 September 2021)

Director of Finance & Operations:  
Lynn Wallace (resigned 6 August 2021)

Director of Finance & Operations and  
Company Secretary:  
Kevin Craik (appointed 1 September 2021)

 

Registered and Principal Office

Myeloma UK
22 Logie Mill
Beaverbank Business Park
Edinburgh
EH7 4HG

Legal Advisers

Morton Fraser
Quartermile Two
2 Lister Square
Edinburgh
EH3 9GL

Investment Managers

Ruffer LLP
80 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 5JL

Auditor

Henderson Loggie LLP 
Ground Floor
11–15 Thistle Street
Edinburgh 
EH2 1DF

Principal Bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
2 Bernard Street
Edinburgh
EH6 6PU
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Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities
The Directors (who are also trustees of 
Myeloma UK for the purposes of charity law) 
are responsible for preparing the Directors’ 
Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). Company law requires the Directors 
to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view  
of the state of affairs of the charitable 
company and of the incoming resources and 
application of resources, including the income 
and expenditure, of the charitable company  
for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Directors are required to: 

    Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

    Observe the methods and principles of the 
Charities SORP; 

    Make judgements and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent ;

    State whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements;

    Prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the organisation will continue in 
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the charitable company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
organisation and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. The trustees are 
responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website.

Disclosure of information to the auditor

Each of the Directors has confirmed that there 
is no information of which they are aware which 
is relevant to the audit, but of which the auditor 
is unaware. They have further confirmed that 
they have taken appropriate steps to identify 
such relevant information and to establish that 
the auditor is aware of such information. 

Independent Auditor

The auditors, Henderson Loggie LLP, are 
deemed to be reappointed in accordance with 
section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

The Trustees’ Report (incorporating the 
Strategic Report) was approved by the 
Directors at their meeting on 7 April 2022  
and signed on their behalf by: 

Signed: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Simon Linnett,  
Chair and Director
Myeloma UK

22 Logie Mill, Beaverbank Business Park, 
Edinburgh, EH7 4HG
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees  
of Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 
Myeloma UK (the ‘charitable company’) for 
the period ended 31 December 2021, which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows and 
notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

    give a true and fair view of the state of 
the charitable company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2021 and of its income and 
expenditure for the year then ended;

    have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

    have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and Regulation 8 of the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended)

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the director’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. 
Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 
the charitable company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of 
the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the 
information included in the Report of the 
Directors, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The Directors 
are responsible for the other information. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 
we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent auditor’s report

https://www.myeloma.org.uk


40 | Myeloma UK Annual Report 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees  
of Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Opinions on other matters prescribed 
by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in 
the course of our audit:

    the information given in the Report of the 
Directors which includes the Trustees’ Report 
for the financial period for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; and

    the Report of the Directors which includes 
the Trustees’ Report has been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding 
of the charitable company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the Report 
of the Directors which includes the Trustees’ 
Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Companies Act 
2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 
require us to report to you if, in our opinion:

    adequate accounting records have not been 
kept, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited 
by us; or

    the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

    certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

    we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors (who 
are also the trustees of the charitable company 
for the purposes of charity law) are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Directors are responsible for assessing the 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

We have been appointed as auditor under 
section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the 
Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance 
with the Acts and relevant regulations made or 
having effect thereunder

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The specific 
procedures for this engagement and the 
extent to which these are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

    Enquiries with management about any known 
or suspected instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations and fraud; 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees  
of Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

    Reading correspondence with regulators 
including OSCR;

    Reviewing board minutes;

    Challenging assumptions and judgements 
made by management in their significant 
accounting estimates, in particular in relation 
to depreciation rates, amortisation rates, 
asset impairments and grant accruals; and

    Auditing the risk of management override 
of controls, including through testing 
journal entries and other adjustments for 
appropriateness.

Because of the field in which the client 
operates, we identified the following areas as 
those most likely to have a material impact 
on the financial statements: employment law 
(including the Working Time Directive) and 
compliance with Scottish Charity legislation 
and the UK Companies Act.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, 
there is an unavoidable risk that some material 
misstatements in the financial statements 
may not be detected, even though the audit is 
properly planned and performed in accordance 
with the ISAs (UK). For instance, the further 
removed non-compliance is from the events 
and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely the auditor is to 
become aware of it or to recognize the non-
compliance

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 

This report is made solely to the members, as 
a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006, and to the charity’s 
directors, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 44 (1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 
10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the members and the charity’s Directors those 
matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the charity, its members as a body 
and its directors as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Signed: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Diana Penny,  
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Henderson Loggie LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditor

Eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 
1212 of the Companies Act 2006

11–15 Thistle Street 
Edinburgh, EH2 1DF

Date: 7 April 2022

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Total
General Designated Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2020

Note £ £ £ £ £ £
Restated

Income and  
endowments from:

Donations, grants  
& legacies 2 3,337,161 – 3,337,161 529,992 3,867,153 4,109,080

Charitable activities:

• Services 3 150 – 150 – 150 2,731

• Research & development 4 1,714 – 1,714 – 1,714 90,000

Other trading activities:

• Fundraising activities & events 5 623,032 – 623,032 27,275 650,307 554,533

Investments 6 3,126 – 3,126 – 3,126 10,710

Total 3,965,183 – 3,965,183 557,267 4,522,450 4,767,054

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 876,789 – 876,789 2,511 879,300 825,289

Charitable activities:

• Services 8 752,319 – 752,319 106,157 858,476 888,100

• Research & development 9 1,161,054 – 1,161,054 432,613 1,593,667 855,717

• Communications 10 554,389 – 554,389 9,943 564,332 603,057

Total 3,344,551 – 3,344,551 551,224 3,895,775 3,172,163

Gains on investment assets 17 24,894 – 24,894 – 24,894 96,011

Net income/(expenditure) 645,526 – 645,526 6,043 651,569 1,690,902

Transfers between funds 22 (161,074) 161,074 – – – – 

Net movement in funds 484,452 161,074 645,526 6,043 651,569 1,690,902

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 4,551,679 4,349,836 8,901,515 154,303 9,055,818 7,364,916

Total funds carried forward 22 5,036,131 4,510,910 9,547,041 160,346 9,707,387 9,055,818

All results relate to continuing activities.

The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net realised and unrealised gains and losses arising on 
disposals and revaluations of our investments during the year.

The notes on pages 45 to 64 form part of the financial statements.

Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating income and 
expenditure account) for the year to 31 December 2021

Statement of financial activities
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Balance Sheet at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £ £

Restated
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 15 19,780 87,660
Tangible assets 16 26,396 41,526
Investments 17 6,348,568 1,156,171

6,394,744 1,285,357

Current assets
Debtors 18 892,167 1,132,550
Cash at bank and in hand 25 3,275,632 8,421,282

4,167,799 9,553,832

Current liabilities
Creditors due within one year 19 855,156 1,783,371

Net current assets 3,312,643 7,770,461

Total net assets 23 9,707,387 9,055,818

Represented by
General funds 22 5,036,131 4,551,679
Designated funds 22 4,510,910 4,349,836

Restricted funds 22 160,346 154,303

9,707,387 9,055,818

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Trustees at their meeting  
on 7 April 2022 and signed on their behalf by: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Chair and Director  
Simon Linnett

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Treasurer and Director  
Alex Montgomery

 
Company Number SC190563

Balance sheet
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 31 December 2021

  2021  2020

 Note £  £

     
Cash flows from operating activities:     
Net cash provided by operating activities 24 (143,013)  1,042,280

     
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Dividends, interest and rents from investments  6 3,126  10,710

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 (5,763)  (36,719)

Purchase of investments 17 (5,000,000) – 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (5,002,637)  (26,009)

     
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period  (5,145,650)  1,016,271

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  8,421,282  7,405,011

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 25 3,275,632  8,421,282

Statement of cash flows
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2021

1. Accounting policies

General information – Charitable Company

The principal activity of Myeloma UK is to help myeloma patients live longer and with a better 
quality of life. We provide a broad and innovative range of services, from information and support, to 
improving standards of treatment and care through research, education, campaigning and raising 
awareness. Patients drive the organisation’s sense of urgency and desire to accelerate the delivery of 
improved care, effective treatments and ultimately to find a cure for myeloma. 

Myeloma UK is a charitable company limited by guarantee incorporated in the United Kingdom and 
registered in Scotland. It is recognised as a charity for tax purposes by HMRC and is registered with 
the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) under charity number SC026116. In the event of 
the winding up of the charitable company a member is liable to contribute a sum not exceeding £1. 
Details of the registered office and company registration number can be found on pages 36 and 
37 of these financial statements. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The principal 
accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of accounting

    The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the charity’s governing 
document, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), “Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 
January 2019)”, the Financial Reporting Standard 102 applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019) and the Companies Act 2006. 

    Myeloma UK is a Public Benefit Entity as defined by FRS 102. 

    Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policy.

    These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (GBP) as that is the currency in which 
the charity’s transactions are denominated. All amounts are rounded to the nearest £.

Going concern

    The charity has net incoming funds for the year ended 31 December 2021 of £652k (2020: £1.69m) 
and at 31 December 2021 has net assets of £9.7m (2020: £9.1m). At 31 December 2021 the charity 
had unrestricted reserves of £9.547m (2020: £8.902m). 

    From March 2020, following the declaration of a global pandemic due to COVID-19, the charity’s 
staff has been working mostly from home. The charity’s activities were adapted to suit a remote 
working model, including, for example, the provision of digital information sessions rather than our 
in-person Information Events. 

    Although the charity’s income from fundraising activities such as sporting events has fallen due 
to the ongoing restrictions, other income streams have remained robust and offset the impact of 
COVID-19. 

    Due to the level of unrestricted cash reserves held by the charity, the Directors are of the opinion 
that the organisation can meet its obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future. The 
organisation makes use of budgets and cash flow forecasts to manage and assess financial 
performance, ensuring that liabilities are met as they fall due. On this basis, the Directors consider  
it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notes to the financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Critical judgements and estimates

    In preparing the financial statements the Directors make estimates and assumptions which affect 
reported results, financial position and disclosure of contingencies. Use of available information 
and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of the estimates, together with past 
experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions of accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised  
and in future period where the revision affects both.

    Critical judgements are made in the application of income recognition and the recognition of grants 
payable.

Fund accounting

    Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the Directors in furtherance of the 
general objectives of the organisation.

    Designated funds are unrestricted income sources which have been reserved for a specific future 
purpose. This designation has an administrative purpose only and does not legally restrict the 
Directors’ discretion to apply the fund.

    Restricted funds are subject to specific requirements as to their use which are imposed by the 
donor or through the terms of an appeal.

Recognition of income

    Income is recognised when the charity has legal entitlement to the funds, any performance 
conditions attached to the items of income have been met, the receipt is probable and the amount 
can be measured reliably.

    Donations and tax recoveries are included in the period in which they are receivable.

    Investment income is included when receivable.

    Legacies are recognised as income when there is entitlement, probability of receipt and 
measurability of the legacy. Where legacies have been notified to the charity and the criteria for 
income recognition haven’t been met, the legacy is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if 
material. No life interest legacies have been awarded to the organisation.

    Grants are credited to the Statement of Financial Activities and Income and Expenditure Account in 
the year in which they are receivable. Grants are not recognised as receivable until the conditions 
for receipt have been met.

    Where there are performance conditions attached to any grants and donations, income is 
recognised when the conditions have been met or when meeting the conditions are within the 
charity’s control and there is sufficient evidence that they have been met or will be met. Where 
a grant condition allows for the recovery of any unexpended grant, a liability is recognised when 
repayment becomes probable.

Allocation and recognition of expenditure

    Expenditure is recognised when a legal or constructive obligation arises. Where possible, 
expenditure has been charged directly to charitable expenditure or support costs. Where this is not 
possible, the expenditure has been allocated on the basis of time spent by staff on each activity.

    Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objectives of 
the organisation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

    Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objectives of 
the organisation.

    Provisions for grants are made when the intention to make a grant has been communicated to 
the recipient and there is uncertainty about either the timing of the grant or the amount of grant 
payable, but the terms and conditions attached to the grant have been met.

    Governance costs include those costs associated with meeting the constitutional and statutory 
requirements of the organisation and costs linked to the strategic management of the organisation.

    Support costs have been allocated to categories on a basis consistent with the use of resources, 
e.g. on the basis of total direct costs incurred by each activity. In the year to 31 December 2020 
support costs have been allocated on the basis of directorate headcount.

Intangible fixed assets and amortisation

    Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at costs less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

    Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the assets value evenly over its 
estimated useful life: 
     Campaign database – 7 years straight line

     Financial system – 2 years straight line

    During the year the estimated remaining useful life of the Financial System was reviewed and 
amortisation rate applied reassess accordingly. The change in accounting estimate resulted in an 
increase in amortisation charge for the year to £18,039 from comparative charge for 2020 of £6,871. 

    The amortised value intangible assets are subject to an annual impairment review. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year of impairment.

    The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Activities for the year.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

    Tangible fixed assets consist of office equipment and leasehold improvements.

    Individual fixed assets costing £1,000 or more are capitalised at cost.

    Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation and impairment losses.

    Tangible fixed assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life: 
     Leasehold improvements – 8 years straight line 

     IT Equipment – 4 years straight line
     Office equipment – 3–4 years straight line

    The amortised value tangible assets are subject to an annual impairment review. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year of impairment.

    The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Activities for the year.

Fixed asset investments

    Investments are stated at fair value at the year end, which is provided by the charity’s investment 
advisors. Gains and losses are included within the Statement of Financial Activities.
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Debtors

    Trade debtors are recognised at the undiscounted amount of cash receivable, which is normally the 
invoiced amount, less any allowance for doubtful debts

Cash at bank and in hand

    Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, and balances with banks which are readily 
convertible, being those with maturities of three months or fewer from inception.

    Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

Creditors

    Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired. They are 
recognised at the undiscounted amount owed to the supplier, which is normally the invoice price.

Financial assets and liabilities

    Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when the charity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial instruments are initially 
measured at transaction price. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are accounted for as set out 
below. 

    Financial instruments are classified as either ‘basic’ or ‘other’ in accordance with Chapter 11 of FRS 
102. The charity has only entered into basic financial instruments.

    At the end of each reporting period, basic financial instruments are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Quoted equity financial instruments are measured at fair value 
at the end of the reporting period with the resulting changes recognised in income or expenditure. 
Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are recognised at cost less impairment

    Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when the Charity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised only once the liability has been extinguished through 
discharge, cancellation or expiry.

Holiday pay accrual

    A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday pay entitlement which has accrued 
at the balance sheet date and is carried forward to future periods. This is measured as the 
undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday entitlement. 

Operating leases

    Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership 
remain with the lessor are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis 
over the life of the lease.

    Operating lease commitments disclosure includes irrecoverable VAT where appropriate.

Pension costs

    The organisation operates a defined contribution pension scheme for a money purchase pension, 
so there is no outstanding liability to the company. Contributions are charged to the statement of 
financial activities as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme. Pension 
costs follow staff costs in allocating the liability and expense to activities and restricted funds.
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Taxation

    The charity has trading profits from trade which does not relate to the charity’s primary purpose, 
and so are liable to corporation tax. Where the charity exceeds the small trading turnover threshold, 
corporation tax is due on any profits which arise. 

    Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit 
for the current or past reporting periods using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

    The organisation is registered, but partially exempt for VAT. Accordingly, expenditure includes 
irrecoverable VAT where applicable.

    Any Gift Aid repayment due on income receivable is recognised on an accruals basis.

Donated professional services

    Donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised as income, if a value can 
be reliably measured, at the value to the charity when received. In accordance with the Charities 
SORP (FRS 102), no amounts are included in the financial statements for services carried out by 
volunteers, including professional services provided directly by volunteers.
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Income and endowments

2. Donations grants and legacies Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total Total

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Restated

Donations (including tax recoverable) 1,765,949 26,866 1,792,815 1,515,724
Legacies 745,410 42,386 787,796 1,322,875
Grants from Corporate and Charitable Trusts 156,908 164,328 321,236 484,801
Grants from pharmaceutical companies 120,000 284,413 404,413 313,370
Community fundraising 548,894 11,999 560,893 472,310

3,337,161 529,992 3,867,153 4,109,080

3. Charitable activities –  
services

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total

Unrestricted 
Funds

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Infoday fees – – – 2,731
Honoraria 150  – 150 – 
 150 – 150 2,731

4. Charitable activities –  
research & development

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total

Unrestricted 
Funds

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Clinical Trial Network – – – 90,000
Honoraria 1,714 – 1,714 – 

1,714 – 1,714 90,000

5. Other trading activities –  
fundraising activities & events

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total Total

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Restated

Myeloma UK events 379,978 27,275 407,253 97,375
Fundraising activities 100,598 – 100,598 211,212
Merchandise 60,384 – 60,384 103,836
Lottery 78,261 – 78,261 72,385
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme Grant Income 3,811 – 3,811 69,725

623,032 27,275 650,307 554,533

6. Investment income
Unrestricted 

Funds
Unrestricted 

Funds
2021 2020

£ £

Interest received 3,126 10,710
3,126 10,710
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Expenditure on

7. Raising funds Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total

Unrestricted 
Funds

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Patron programme 14,149 – 14,149 13,258
Myeloma UK events 1,116 – 1,116 206
Fundraising activities 115,775 – 115,775 83,215
Merchandise 51,077 – 51,077 41,793
Other fundraising costs 55,276 – 55,276 91,387
Employment costs (note 12) 440,327 229 440,556 409,284
Support costs (note 11) 180,913 2,282 183,195 167,646
Governance costs (note 11) 18,156 – 18,156 18,500

876,789 2,511 879,300 825,289

8. Charitable activities –  
services

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total Total

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Programme costs 87,434 28,610 116,044 129,850
Employment costs (note 12) 472,137 75,338 547,475 512,057
Support costs (note 11) 175,168 2,209 177,377 221,725
Governance costs (note 11) 17,580  – 17,580 24,468
 752,319 106,157 858,476 888,100

9. Charitable activities –  
research, policy & advocacy

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total Total

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Programme costs – grants payable 487,614 355,600 843,214 437,945
Programme costs – other 37,097 52,100 89,197 29,192
Employment costs (note 12) 271,284 20,728 292,012 281,996
Support costs (note 11) 331,764 4,185 335,949 95,991
Governance costs (note 11) 33,295 – 33,295 10,593

1,161,054 432,613 1,593,667 855,717

Grants payable in the current and previous year are payable to the following institutions:

Institute for Cancer Research 29,342 332,360 361,702 116,645
Leeds University Hospital 253,064 – 253,064 312,949
Queen University Belfast – 23,240 23,240 – 
University College London Hospitals 105,714 – 105,714 – 
Structural Genomics Consortium – – – 33,333
Manchester University 29,494 – 29,494 (24,982)
Blood Cancer UK 70,000 – 70,000 – 
Total grants payable, as above 487,614 355,600 843,214 437,945
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12. Employee remuneration 2021 2020
£ £

Salaries 1,792,702 1,674,850

Employer's national insurance 181,162 169,266
Employer's pension contribution 89,777 83,430

2,063,641 1,927,546

Average number of employees 56 54
  

Employees earning between £60,001 and £70,000 3 4
Employees earning between £70,001 and £80,000 – 1
Employees earning above £90,001 1 – 

10. Charitable activities –  
communications

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds Total Total

2021 2021 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Programme costs 40,610 – 40,610 87,270
Employment costs (note 12) 387,282 8,493 395,775 353,660
Support costs (note 11) 114,960 1,450 116,410 146,014
Governance costs (note 11) 11,537 – 11,537 16,113

554,389 9,943 564,332 603,057

11. Support costs Fundraising Services Research Comm Total Total
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2020

£ £ £ £ £ £
Governance
Accountancy and audit 2,358 2,283 4,324 1,498 10,463 14,010
Board expenses 550 533 1,009 350 2,442 2,929
Legal and professional fees 5,184 5,020 9,507 3,294 23,005 10,449
Employment costs (note 12) 10,064 9,744 18,455 6,395 44,658 42,286
 18,156 17,580 33,295 11,537 80,568 69,674

Support costs
Employment costs (note 12) 77,333 74,877 141,815 49,141 343,166 328,263
Office costs 23,346 22,605 42,813 14,835 103,599 100,550
IT costs 38,208 36,995 70,067 24,279 169,549 62,387
Administration costs 16,555 16,030 30,360 10,520 73,465 70,629
HR & Other costs 27,753 26,870 50,894 17,635 123,152 69,547
 183,195 177,377 335,949 116,410 812,931 631,376

Total Support costs 201,351 194,957 369,244 127,947 893,499 701,050
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13. Payments to Directors 2021 2020
£ £

No Directors received any remuneration or other benefits.
Board travel and related expenses reimbursed 2,442 2,929
Trustee indemnity insurance paid during the year 1,277 1,277
Total employee benefits of key management personnel 472,719 446,589

Seven Board Directors were reimbursed travel expenses in 2021 (2020: 6).

A new Chief Executive was appointed in April 2020. The post had been vacant since December 2018. Remuneration 
of key management personnel for 2021 includes 12 months of costs for this role (2020: 8 months).

14. Net movement in funds 2021 2020
£ £

This is stated after charging:

Current auditors' remuneration – audit 9,000 – 
Current auditors' remuneration - non-audit services 900 – 
Past auditors' remuneration - audit services – 8,862
Past auditors' remuneration - non-audit services 3,488 10,862
Operating leases expenses 82,152 81,130
Depreciation & amortisation 80,164 27,507

15. Intangible fixed assets Capitalised
software

£
Cost
At 1 January 2021 128,037
Purchased during period – 
At 31 December 2021 128,037

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 40,377
Provided during period 67,880
At 31 December 2021 108,257

Net book value
At 31 December 2021 19,780
At 31 December 2020 87,660

During the year a project to develop new website commenced – as a result the recognised intangible balance of 
website development has been fully impaired.
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16. Tangible fixed assets Leasehold Office 
Improvement Equipment Total

£ £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2021 11,239 150,682 161,921
Purchased during period – 5,763 5,763
Disposals during period – (51,244) (51,244)
At 31 December 2021 11,239 105,201 116,440

Depreciation
At 1 January 2021 4,800 115,595 120,395
Provided during period 1,405 10,879 12,284
Eliminated on disposal – (42,635) (42,635)
At 31 December 2021 6,205 83,839 90,044

Net book value
At 31 December 2021 5,034 21,362 26,396
At 31 December 2020 6,439 35,087 41,526

17. Investments
£

Listed investments
Fair value 1 January 2021 1,104,454
Purchases and donations in year 5,167,502
Net Investment (losses)/gains 50,696

Fair value 31 December 2021 6,322,652

Historical cost 6,105,603

The investments are held in a global fund. Individual securities within this fund are not identifiable.

Additions in the year comprised of an unrestricted donation of shares and transfer of surplus cash into investment 
portfolio held with Ruffer Fund.

£

Non-listed investments
Fair value 1 January 2021 51,718
Net Investment (losses)/gains (25,802)

Fair value 31 December 2021 25,916

Historical cost 51,766

18. Debtors 2021 2020
£ £

Trade debtors 28,518 22,175
Prepayments and accrued income 863,649 1,110,375

892,167 1,132,550
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19. Creditors due within one year 2021 2020
£ £

Trade creditors 144,557 776,401
Accruals and deferred income 323,222 527,384
Accruals for grants payable 310,401 411,501
Taxation and social security creditors 76,976 42,362
Provision for cancelled events – 25,723

855,156 1,783,371

During 2020 a provision was put in place in relation to potential refunds for participators in fundraising events that 
were postponed. The provision was reviewed at 31 December 2021 and fully released.

Deferred income
£ £

At 1 January 2021 282,455 154,731
Released in year (173,176) (104,953)
Income deferred in the year 36,016 232,677
At 31 December 2021 145,295 282,455

Income (registration fees and sponsorship money) relating to fundraising events which were postponed to 2022 has 
been deferred until the event takes place.

20. Operating lease commitments

The organisation had non-cancellable commitments under operating leases as follows:

2021 2020
£ £

Restated
Land and buildings
Payments due within one year 75,360 75,360
Payments due within 2-5 years 157,000 232,360

232,360 307,720

Equipment
Payments due within one year 3,671 3,330
Payments due within 2-5 years 1,794 5,807

5,465 9,137

Total 237,825 316,857
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21. G
rants payab

le com
m

itm
ents

T
he organisation has the follow

ing com
m

itm
ents for grants payable:

Total G
rant

C
om

m
itted

  
01 January  

2021
C

harged
  

2021
Released

  
2021

A
ccrued

  
2021

H
istoric 
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djustm

ent 
2021

N
ew
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rants
2021
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om
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itted at  

31 D
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ber 
2021
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£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
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 –  
Research Program
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1,985,656

 
235,243

 
(243,347)

– 
– 

– 
1,553,203

 
1,545,099
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niversity of Leeds –  
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TR

U
 PhD

45,000
 

16,500
 

(6,750)
– 

(2,250)
– 

– 
7,500

 

U
niversity of Leeds –  

C
A
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P

1,346,683
 

301,980
 

(257,664)
(44,316)

– 
– 

500,000
 

500,000
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avid Forbes N

ixon Foundation 
Fellow
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1,000,000
 

696,550
 

(96,263)
– 

(32,598)
28,106

 
– 

595,795

H
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117,966

 
44,237

 
– 

– 
(29,494)

(6,775)
– 

7,968
 

G
eographical Inequalities

100,000
 

– 
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– 
(23,240)

– 
100,000

 
76,760

 

H
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185,000
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2,935,412 
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21. Grants payable commitments (continued)

Grant commitments noted above relate to projects running for longer than 12 months and covering more than one 
accounting period.

Details of the grant periods and timing are noted below:

Project name Total grant Start date and grant period
Remaining 

balance
£ £

ICR – Research Programme Grant 1,985,656 August 2019 – 5 years 1,545,099 

University of Leeds – CTRU PhD 45,000 August 2017 – 60 months 7,500 

University of Leeds – CARP 846,683 January 2019 – 3 years

500,000 January 2022 – 2 years 500,000 

DFNF Fellowship at ICR 1,000,000 July 2018 – 5 years 595,794 

Health Services Research –  
Frailty at Manchester University 117,966 September 2016 – extended to 70 months 7,968 

Geographical Inequalities 100,000 September 2021 – 18 months 76,760 

Health Informatic Collaborative 185,000 April 2021 – 14 months 79,286 

Blood Cancer Vaccine 150,000 May 2021 – until November 2022 80,000 

MGUS project 58,004 August 2021 – 12 months 43,004 
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22. General, Designated and Restricted funds

01 January 31 December
2021 Income Expenses Transfers Gains 2021

Unrestricted funds £ £ £ £ £ £
Restated

General funds 4,551,679 3,965,183 (3,344,551) (161,074) 24,894 5,036,131 

Designated funds
Operating expenditure 2,429,949 – – (854,451) – 1,575,498 
Research Programmes 837,744 – – (550,725) – 287,019 
Grants payable commitments 1,082,143 – – 1,566,250 – 2,648,393 

      
Total unrestricted funds 8,901,515 3,965,183 (3,344,551) – 24,894 9,547,041 

Restricted funds

Diagnosing Myeloma Earlier:
 Early Diagnosis – 66,200 (22,000) – – 44,200 
 Improve Diagnosis – 54,400 (54,400) – – – 

Discover and Share Knowledge:
 Biomedical Research – – – – – – 
 DFN ICR – 128,856 (128,856) – – – 
 ICR Programme Grant 84,473 119,027 (203,500) – – – 

Transform Patient Experience:
 Changing patient experience 49,830 127,312 (90,568) –  – 86,574 
 CSEP 10,000 – (10,000) – – – 

Influencing Positive Change  
in Care: 
 Patients Voice – 25,000 – – – 25,000 
 Infoline – 27,900 (27,900) – – – 
 Support Groups 10,000 1,500 (11,500) – – – 

Enablers:
 Wellbeing grant – 2,500 (2,500) – – – 
 IT equipment support – 4,572 – – – 4,572 

     
Total restricted funds 154,303 557,267 (551,224) – – 160,346 

Total charity funds 9,055,818 4,522,450 (3,895,775) – 24,894 9,707,387 

Designated Funds

Fund name: Fund purpose
 Operating expenditure Designated reserve to support the charity in meeting its operational costs for the 

period of 6 months.
 Research Programmes Funds relating to grant commitments for biomedical research grants.
 Grants payable commitments Balance of grant payable commitment at the year-end not relating specifically to 

biomedical research programmes.
 Infrastructure programme Funds for infrastructure and IT programme planned in 2020 – fully utilised.
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22. General, Designated and Restricted funds (continued)

Restricted Funds

Fund name Fund purpose

Diagnosing 
Myeloma 
Earlier

Early 
Diagnosis

Funding supporting projects on early diagnosis including funding from Sanofi 
and Karyopharm for a position of biostatistician looking into the diagnosis 
of MGUS and James Tudor Foundation grant for Best Practice Guide into 
recognising early symptoms of myeloma and related conditions.

Improve 
Diagnosis

Funding received from Amgen Limited for the Early Diagnosis Programme 
looking at improving research into early diagnosis and investigating and 
understanding the late diagnosis of myeloma patients.

Discover 
and Share 
Knowledge

Biomedical 
Research

Restricted donations allocated to biomedical research programmes costs  
in 2020.

DFN ICR 
Fellowship

Funding provided by David Forbes-Nixon Foundation for Dr Martin Kaiser’s 
Research Fellowship at the Institute of Cancer Research.

ICR 
Programme 
Grant

Restricted research donations allocated grant funding for a translational 
research programme at the ICR to investigate the genetic changes that lead 
to the development and progression of myeloma. Funds utilised in the year 
included brought forward balance of the Kreitman grant.

Transform 
Patient 
Experience

Changing 
patient 
experience

Funding for projects aiming to change myeloma patients’ experiences in care, 
including funding from the National Lottery and Pfizer for the development of 
Health Care Professionals Education Tool, a grant from Novartis to support the 
development of Shared Decision-Making Tool and Funding from Sanofi and 
Takeda for Geographical Inequalities project.

CSEP
Grant from Janssen-Cilag Limited in support of the Clinical Service Excellence 
Programme.

Influencing 
Positive 
Change in 
Care

Patients Voice
Grant from Janssen-Cilag Limited in support of the Research and Patient 
Advocacy Team activities: The Advocacy Partner Panel, The Patient and Carer 
Research Panel and the ‘Supporting Patient Voices’ project.

Infoline
Funding received from GlaxoSmithKline and the February Foundation to 
support Myeloma UK’s Infoline and Ask the Nurse programmes.

Support 
Groups

Funding received from Gilead and Card Factory Foundation for Myeloma UK’s 
patients’ Support Groups.

Enablers

Wellbeing 
grant

Grant received for media equipment to streamline office communication in 
hybrid working environment.

IT equipment 
support

Grant received for media equipment to streamline office communication in 
hybrid working environment.

COVID-19 
Support

Grants received from our funding partners to support the charity’s core 
activities through COVID-19 pandemic. All funds have been received and spent 
in the year ended 31 December 2020.
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For comparative purposes, the 2020 funds note is shown below.

01 January 
2020 Income Expenses Transfers

Gains/
(losses)

31 December 
2020

Unrestricted funds £ £ £ £ £ £
Restated Restated

General funds 1,978,035 4,275,737 (2,458,276) 660,172 96,011 4,551,679 

Designated funds

Operating expenditure 2,079,173 – – 350,776 – 2,429,949 
Infrastructure programme 300,000 – – (300,000) – – 
Research Programmes 1,054,244 – (230,187) 13,687 – 837,744 
Grants payable commitments 1,806,775 – – (724,632) – 1,082,143 

      
Total unrestricted funds 7,218,227 4,275,737 (2,688,463) 3 96,011 8,901,515 

Restricted funds

Diagnosing Myeloma Earlier
Early Diagnosis – – – – – – 
Improve Diagnosis – – – – – – 
Discover and Share Knowledge 
Bio-medical Research – 104,742 (104,739) (3) – – 
DFN ICR – 3,451 (3,451) – – – 
ICR Programme Grant 146,689 135,000 (197,216) – – 84,473 
Transform Patient Experience 
Changing patient experience – 80,999 (31,169) – – 49,830 
CSEP – 10,000 – – – 10,000 
Influencing Positive Change in Care 
Patients Voice – – – – – – 
Infoline – – – – – – 
Support Groups – 10,000 – – – 10,000 
Enablers  
Wellbeing grant – – – – – – 
IT equipment support – – – – – – 
COVID-19 core grants – 147,125 (147,125) – – – 

     
Total restricted funds 146,689 491,317 (483,700) (3) – 154,303 

Total charity funds 7,364,916 4,767,054 (3,172,163) – 96,011 9,055,818 
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23. Analysis of net assets between funds 

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 2021
£ £ £

Intangible fixed assets 19,780 – 19,780

Tangible fixed assets 26,396 – 26,396
Investments 6,348,568 – 6,348,568
Net current assets 3,152,297 160,346 3,312,643

9,547,041 160,346 9,707,387

For comparative purposes, the 2020 analysis of net assets note is shown below.

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 2020
£ £ £

Restated Restated

Intangible fixed assets 87,660 – 87,660
Tangible fixed assets 41,526 – 41,526
Investments 1,156,171 – 1,156,171

Net current assets 7,616,158 154,303 7,770,461

8,901,515 154,303 9,055,818
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24. Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities

2021  2020
 £  £

Net income for the reporting period  
(as per the statement of financial activities) 651,569  1,690,902

   
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation & amortisation charges 80,164  27,507
Loss on disposal of assets 8,609 – 
Gains on investments (24,894)  (96,011)
Dividends, interest & rents from investments (3,126)  (10,710)
Bequest of investments (167,502)  (51,765)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 240,383  (564,507)
Increase / (decrease) in creditors (928,216)  46,864

Net cash provided by operating activities (143,013)  1,042,280

25. Analysis of cash, cash equivalents and net debt

2020 Cash flows 2021
 £  £
    

Cash at bank 8,421,282 (5,145,650) 3,275,632

The charitable company does not have any financial debts such as overdrafts or bank loans. 

26. Controlling party

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no controlling party.

27. Related parties

The charity received an unrestricted donation in the year of £2,500 (2020: £nil) from GH Consulting Ltd. One of the 
trustees of Myeloma UK is also a director of GH Consulting Ltd.

The charity received an unrestricted donation in the year of £nil (2020: £100,000) from IGY Foundation. One of the 
trustees of Myeloma UK is also a trustee of IGY Foundation.

The charity also received unrestricted donations in the year of £2,000 (2020: £17,000) from Nimrod Capital LLP.  
One of the trustees of Myeloma UK is also a designated member of Nimrod Capital LLP. 

During the year, the charity received unrestricted donations of £6,497 from three trustees (2020 £5,696 from  
four trustees).
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28. Comparative Statement of Financial Activities – restated

General 
Funds 
2020

Designated 
Funds 
2020

Total 
Unrestricted 

Funds 
2020

Restricted 
Funds 
2020

Total 
Funds 
2020

Total 
Funds 
2019

Note £ £ £ £ £ £

Income and  
endowments from:

Donations, grants and legacies 2 3,632,717 – 3,632,717 476,363 4,109,080 3,306,692
Charitable activities:

• Services 3 2,731 – 2,731 – 2,731 18,001

• Research & development 4 90,000 – 90,000 – 90,000 25,600

Other trading activities

Fundraising activities & events 5 539,579 – 539,579 14,954 554,533 1,334,121
Investments 6 10,710 – 10,710 – 10,710 19,278

Total 4,275,737 4,275,737 491,317 4,767,054 4,703,692

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 825,289 – 825,289 – 825,289 927,505
Charitable activities:

• Services 8 730,451 – 730,451 157,649 888,100 997,675

• Research & development 9 307,625 230,187 537,812 317,905 855,717 547,477

• Communications 10 594,911 – 594,911 8,146 603,057 524,850

Total 2,458,276 230,187 2,688,463 483,700 3,172,163 2,997,507 

Gains on investment assets 17 96,011 – 96,011 – 96,011 78,718 

Net income/(expenditure) 1,913,472 (230,187) 1,683,285 7,617 1,690,902 1,784,903 

Transfers between funds 22 660,172 (660,169) 3 (3) – – 

Net movement in funds 2,573,644 (890,356) 1,683,288 7,614 1,690,902 1,784,903 

Reconcilliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 1,978,035 5,240,192 7,218,227 146,689 7,364,916 5,580,013
Total funds carried forward 22 4,551,679 4,349,836 8,901,515 154,303 9,055,818 7,364,916

29. Company status

Myeloma UK is a company limited by guarantee and the contribution of members to the liability of the Charity is 
restricted by the Memorandum and Articles of Association to a maximum of £1.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
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30. Non-audit services

In common with many other organisations of its size, the charitable company engages its auditors to provide other 
accounting services. At the start of the current accounting period Azets Audit Services were the charity’s auditors. 
Henderson Loggie LLP were appointed as new auditors on 22 November 2021. 

During the year the total paid to Azets for payroll bureau services was £4,388 (2020: £10,862). 

Since their appointment in 2021 Henderson Loggie LLP were also engaged to prepare our corporation tax return and 
conduct a VAT health check. A total of £900 was accrued in the year in respect of these services (2020: £nil)

31. Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through net income

2021 2020
£ £

Listed investments and bonds 6,348,567 1,156,571

32. Prior Year Adjustment

Following the review of the research grants expenditure and accruals carried out during the year, we have identified 
£671,342 of liabilities incorrectly recognised as outstanding at the year end. Further review revealed that these 
liabilities have ceased to apply following finalisation of the relevant Clinical Trials Network contracts the charitable 
company ceased to participate in with effect from 31 December 2018 and 28 February 2019. In line with SORP 
FRS102 sections 3.3 and 3.4 we consider this adjustment to be a prior period error, affecting research costs and 
creditor balances for the year ended 31 December 2019 and disclosed in the current financial statements as an 
opening balance adjustment as at 1 January 2020, resulting in an increase in unrestricted reserves of £671,342.

Furthermore, a review of legacy accruals revealed an additional £42,687 of legacy income that met SORP FRS 102 
recognition criteria in the previous year and should have been accrued as at 31 December 2020. Statement of 
Financial Position and Balance Sheet balances for the year to 31 December 2020 have been restated to include  
these amounts. 

The impact of the above noted errors on opening balances is as noted below:

1 Jan 2020 31 Dec 2020
£ £

Net assets as previously reported 6,693,574 8,341,789 
Reversal of grant accruals incorrectly recognised 671,342 671,342
Legacy accruals not recognised – 42,687 
Restated net assets 7,364,916 9,055,818 

Additionally, in line with updated guidance, the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant income previously 
recognised in restricted income from donations, grants and legacies have been reallocated to Other trading activities 
and treated as unrestricted for years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021. This adjustment has no 
impact on the net assets position.
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Appendix 1

This appendix is for information only and does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Income and cash receipts from pharmaceutical and related healthcare companies

Accrued / 
(deferred) at 

1 Jan2021 
£

Cash 
received 

£

Released  
in year 

£

Accrued  
in year 

£

Deferred  
in year 

£
Recognised 

£

Accrued / 
(deferred) at 
31 Dec 2021 

£

AbbVie Ltd – 10,000 – – – 10,000 – 
Amgen Ltd (50,000) 40,000 50,000 – – 90,000 – 
Amgen (Europe) GmbH – 8,000 – – (8,000) – (8,000)
The Binding Site Ltd – 20,000 – – – 20,000 – 
Celgene Ltd 15,000 30,000 (15,000) – (10,000) 5,000 (10,000)
Briston-Myers-Squibb - 
Celgene – 45,000 – – (5,000) 40,000 (5,000)
CRISPR Therapeutics AG 739 – (739) – – (739) – 
GlaxoSmithKline Research & 
Development Ltd – 22,900 – – – 22,900 – 
Janssen-Cilag Ltd – 740 – 25,000 – 25,740 25,000 
Janssen Pharmaceutica JW 450 660 (450) – – 210 – 
Karyopharm Therapeutics – 40,200 – – – 40,200 – 
Novartis Pharmaceuticals 
UK Ltd (17,500) – 17,500  – – 17,500 – 
Sanofi (80,355) 50,375 55,865 – – 106,240 (24,490)
Takeda UK Limited (30,875) 58,825 30,875 – – 89,700 – 

Total (162,541) 326,700 138,051 25,000 (23,000) 466,751 (22,490)
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Appendix 1 (continued)

Income from pharmaceutical companies recognised in 2021:

 
Core grant 

£

Research / 
Project 

£
Donation 

£
Honoraria 

£
Events 

£

AbbVie Ltd – – 10,000 – –
Amgen Ltd 30,000 50,000 – – 10,000 
The Binding Site Ltd 20,000 – – – –

Celgene Ltd – – – – 5,000 
Briston-Myers-Squibb - Celgene 40,000 – – – –
CRISPR Therapeutics AG – – – (739) –
GlaxoSmithKline Research & 
Development Ltd – 22,900 – – –
Janssen-Cilag Ltd – 25,000 – 740 –
Janssen Pharmaceutica JW – – – 210 –
Karyopharm Therapeutics – 40,200 – – –
Novartis Pharmaceuticals UK Ltd – 17,500 – – –
Sanofi – 81,750 – – 24,490 
Takeda UK Limited 40,000 49,700 – – –

Total 130,000 287,050 10,000 211 39,490 



Support from individual philanthropists, our patrons, trusts and foundations, and corporate 
partners is vital to funding our crucial work. We are particularly grateful to those listed who 
have donated to us during the year. A special thank you goes out to our Board of Directors, 
partners and all the staff at Myeloma UK who make our work possible.

Individuals
Aikwan Auw

Allan and Rena Galt

Andrew Boyd 

Andrew Drysdale 

Barry Johnson

Brian and Doreen Winterflood

Bruno Sefarty 

Catherine Ison 

Charles and Brenda Symons 

David Moss

Dr Claire Foster-Gilbert 

Dr Paul Wood 

George Smart 

Geraldine Haley 

Gillian Hoadley

Jenny L Benjamin

John and Lynn Turner 

Martin G Kennard

Mervyn Martin 

Michael Goldberg

Peter and Dr Genevieve Davies 

Richard and Judy Townley 

Rosemary Inglis

Sir Michael Davies

Sylvia M Ifold 

The Hon Mrs REC Maitland 

Toby and Lucy Gosnall 

XXXX Margaret Sandra

Trusts and 
Foundations 
Bostelman Trust 

C A Redfern  
Charitable Foundation 

Card Factory Foundation 

Cruden Foundation 

Dr J C B Sym’s Charitable Trust 

J S Innes Charitable Trust 

Joseph Strong Frazer Trust 

Langmuir Family Foundation 

Miss A M Pilkington  
Charitable Trust

Mrs Anna Younger  
Charitable Trust 

Oliver Stanley Charitable Trust

Pears Foundation 

Penguins Against Cancer 

Reverend W N Monteith’s 2004 
Charitable Trust

The Adrian Swire  
Charitable Trust 

The Barbour Foundation 

The Bothwell Charitable Trust 

The Brian Mitchell  
Charitable Settlement

The Burry Charitable Trust

The DFN Charitable Foundation 

The Edward Binks  
Discretionary Settlement 

The February Foundation 

The Harrison-Frank  
Family Foundation 

The James Tudor Foundation

The Joyce and Norman  
Freed Charitable Trust

The Karen and Lawrence  
Lever Charitable Trust 

The Mickel Fund

The Ross Family Trust

The Sycamore Trust

The Sylvia Aitken’s  
Charitable Trust

The Sym Charitable Trust

Pharma companies 
AbbVie 

Amgen

Bristol-Myers Squibb

GlaxoSmithKline

Janssen UK

Karyopharm Therapeutics

Sanofi

Takeda UK

Corporate support 
A R & V Investments Ltd

Arnold Clark Community 
Foundation 

Buy-it Direct 

Ecclesiastical Insurance Group 

ITECHO Health

Landsdowne Partners Ltd 

NFDC Ltd 

Nimrod Captial LLP

Orbis Investments 

QuickTrace Ltd 

The Binding Site Ltd 

Thomas Miller & Co Ltd

Thank you

We also wish to thank our supporters who chose to remain anonymous.

If you would like to support our work visit: myeloma.org.uk/get-involved

https://www.myeloma.org.uk/get-involved
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